
Board of Directors
Regular Meeting Agenda

Tuesday, November 19, 2019, 7.00p
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Community Meeting Room

502 State St, Hood River
Jean Sheppard President

I. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION) Sheppard

II. Actual or potential conflicts of interest Sheppard

III. Consent agenda (ACTION) Sheppard

i. Minutes from October 15, 2019 meeting
IV. Open forum for the general public Sheppard

V. Reports 

i. Friends update Fox

ii. Foundation update Fox

iii. October 2019 financial statements Fox

iv. Director's report Fox

VI. Previous business   
i. Odell Feasibility and Scoping Exercise proposal
ii. Annual planning session
iii. Boiler bids

VII. New business
i. Dental Insurance Renewal
ii. Special Districts Association Annual Conference Discussion       Sheppard

iii. Staff safety discussion                                                          Sheppard

VIII. Agenda items for next meeting                                                          Sheppard

IX. Adjournment                                                                                           Sheppard

_______________

Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, 
Executive Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are scheduled
for the current meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

Board meeting agenda [2019-11-19] 1



The Board of Directors meets on the 3rd Tuesday each month from 7.00 to 9.00p in the 
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Memorial Meeting Room at 502 State Street, Hood River, Oregon. Sign 
language interpretation for the hearing impaired is available if at least 48 hours notice is 
given.

Page 2

Board meeting agenda [2019-11-19] 2



Board of Directors
Regular Meeting Agenda

Supplementary information
Tuesday, November 19, 2019, 7.00p

Jeanne Marie Gaulke Community Meeting Room
502 State St, Hood River
Jean Sheppard President

Notes prepared by Library Director Rachael Fox

I. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION) Sheppard

II. Actual or potential conflicts of interest Sheppard

III. Consent agenda (ACTION) Sheppard

i. Minutes from October 15, 2019 meeting
Attachments:

• III.i. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting

IV. Open forum for the general public Sheppard

V. Reports 

i. Friends update Fox
• The Friends annual holiday potluck party will be held on Sunday, December 8, 2pm at 

the Hood River Library in the Reading Room. The library board is invited to attend.
• The Friends are exploring donating a percentage of their income each year to the 

Friends of the Library Pat Hazlehurst Endowment fund. 
• The Dirty Book Club meets twice monthly to clean dirty kids books. They are almost 

finished with the entire children’s library, which took them over two years. They are 
ready to make another pass at cleaning the entire kids collection.

ii. Foundation update Fox
• The Library Foundation annual donor appreciation event was a success! There was 

approximitely 25 people in attendance. Library Director Rachael Fox, Children’s 
Services Librarian Jana Hannigan, and Bilingual Outreach Specialist Yeli Boots 
presented a slide show to donors discussing the many projects and ongoing support 
they provide to the District and how their support positively impacts our patrons and 
community.

• The Library Foundation has accepted an invitation from pFriem to be part of their 
Fundraising series. pFriem offers their Library room in their building to hold an event, 
which includes free appetizers and a percentage of their beer sales to a local 
organization. The Foundation is looking at holding a Trivia event on a Wednesday at 
the end of January or beginning of February. Teen Services Librarian Rachel Timmons 
will run the Trivia event. 

• Foundation members are starting to plan the Feast of Words 2020. They are 
brainstorming changes to the program and have started designating the point person 

Board meeting agenda [2019-11-19], supplementary info, updated 3



for specific tasks.
• The Foundation Board is looking for new members. If you know of anyone, please let 

me know and I can pass on the information to Library Foundation President Jen Bayer.
• The Endowment/Legacy Giving committee will have their first meeting in December. 

iii. October 2019 financial statements Fox
Attachments:

• V.iii. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting

The District has received $131,332 of the tax revenue during the month of October. The bulk 
of the remaining tax revenue will arrive this month. 

Good news! We have received the October tax assessment for FY 2019-20 and we will 
receive $26,655 more in tax revenue than we anticipated. Each year in March, we receive an 
estimate from Hood River County regarding the amount of property tax we will receive for the 
following fiscal year. We use this estimate to set our annual budget.

We are ready to pay for the roof top unit and installation after the job is completed. We will 
use $80,000 from contingency and $23,659 from the Capital Fund for a total of $103,569. The
cost of the electrician to unhook the old unit and hook up the new unit is $1,267 and is not 
included in the project. The additional cost of the electrician will come from the Capital Fund. 

Our Capital Equipment Reserve Fund is currently $91,296. I will make the allocated transfer 
$43,000 from the General Fund to the Capital Fund after we receive the bulk of our revenue. 
This will bring the Capital Equipment Reserve Fund to $134,296.

iv. Director's report Fox

Administration
• Due to a need to allocate my time and energy in other areas of my job this past month 

and the amount of time required to gather data for the Pay Equity Analysis, I am still 
working on the analysis. 

I’ve discovered there are two areas we most likely will need to make adjustments. I’m 
working with a firm called HR Answers, which provides free support for human 
resource questions and reviewing job descriptions and HR policies. This service is 
provided free with our membership to Special Districts Association of Oregon. They are
assisting me with the analysis and will assist with any changes we need to our written 
procedures and policies. 

Due to the possibility we will also need to update sections of our personnel policy to 
comply with the Pay Equity, I’m working on updating our 43 page Personnel Policy at 
the same time. This way I can present the recommendations of the analysis and the 
updated Personnel Policy at the same time for review. 

Due to the length of the Personnel Policy and amount of time involved to update it, I do

Page 2

Board meeting agenda [2019-11-19], supplementary info, updated 4



not have a policy for review for the November board meeting.

• We had our annual audit on October 23, 2019. They stated everything looked good. As
a reminder at our interim visit in June, they discovered one item which they will 
reference on the final report. Our auditors discovered at the Hood River Library District 
has been paying a staff member the incorrect wage. They recommended the wage be 
corrected for the staff member. The issue was immediately addressed and corrected. 

• I have completed the 2019 Special Districts Insurance Services Best Practices 
Program. We will receive 10% off our insurance premium. To qualify we have to do the 
following:
◦ Affiliate Organization Membership, 2%

▪ Oregon Library Association
◦ Public Records Checklist, 2%

▪ Complete a checklist on their website to ensure we are in compliance with the 
recent changes to Oregon law in regard to public records.

◦ Public Records Policy, 2%
▪ We updated our Public Records Policy at the September board meeting to 

include the new changes in the law pertaining to the timeframe for responding to
requests.

◦ Online training, 2%
▪ I completed a 1 hour online Public Records training 

◦ SDAO/SDIS training, 2%
▪ We completed an onsite risk management assessment of our three facilities in 

January 2019.
• The Friends of the Library Pat Hazlehurst Endowment Committee met to discuss the 

allocation of funds for this fiscal year. The committee has approved the following 
projects.

◦ Hood River County Reads, $750
The Friends of the Library Hood River County Reads program has selected The 
Highest Tide by Jim Lynch for Hood River County Reads 2020.

◦ People counters, $2,295
These devices will provide valuable information for our overall operations. It will allow 
the library to explore options for maximizing our hours, which is a sub goal for Strategic
Goal #5, Continue to develop the library as a cultural and educational hub for people of
all ages and backgrounds. 

The people counters will also provide valuable information for our State Library Report 
and Library Annual Report to show the actual use of our three branches. It will provide 
data regarding peak high traffic times, which will be required to explore changing hours
in the future.

◦ Marketing goal setting facilitation, $1,148.

Page 3

Board meeting agenda [2019-11-19], supplementary info, updated 5



This year, we are continuing to work on Strategic Goal #4, Increase library awareness 
throughout our county. Our Library District Board discussed hiring a consultant to 
develop clear goals for library staff to implement. Library Consultant Penny Hummel 
will conduct an audit of current marketing procedures, facilitate a planning session for 
the library board and then provide a written report with goals for library staff. 

This plan will help support our library to effectively communicate the positive impact of 
the library district and develop a plan for long-term funding sustainability. It will also 
identify ways we can better market our programs and services to our patrons. 

◦ Staff team building activities and training, $1,000.
I have received feedback from library staff regarding the desire for more team building 
activities and training. By building a stronger and connected team, we can provide 
better services to our patrons. 

◦ Free books and programs to vulnerable populations, $1,057.
We will purchase high quality materials to distribute freely to the vulnerable populations
in our county including the homebound and those experiencing homelessness. We will 
also explore library programs to serve vulnerable populations. This will support our 
Strategic Goal #3, Expand outreach activities to continue to grow the library’s active 
users and subgoal #3, reach out to vulnerable populations (including the homebound 
and homeless) through ongoing staff outreach.

• Collection
◦ We have launched our mobile WiFi hotspot lending initiative, expanding free 

internet access to patrons beyond its physical locations. Hotspots are available to 
borrow at all three branches of the library district. 

Each WiFi hotspot kit contains a hotspot device, Micro USB cable, and instructions 
in English and Spanish. Hot spots can be used to connect any wifi enabled device 
to the internet, including in many rural areas. Wifi hotspots check out for one week, 
can be returned at any branch and must be returned inside the library (not in library 
book drops). This program is funded by the Friends of the Hood River County 
Library. 

• Facilities
◦ We are on schedule to replace our HVAC roof top unit by the end of November or 

beginning of December. 

◦ Our new indoor, electronic donor recognition monitor located next to the Parker 
room is now in operation. We will be adding more photos to the slide show soon.

◦ Our new outdoor reader board will be installed soon in front of the Hood River 
Library. This project was funded by the Library Foundation.

◦ Our building maintenance person Michael Peterson-Love discovered wet insulation 

Page 4

Board meeting agenda [2019-11-19], supplementary info, updated 6



behind the wall in our Makerspace. The wet insulation is at the top of the wall, near 
ground level and the insulation at the bottom of the wall is not wet. He thinks it may 
be related to a leak in a water line, but is unsure of the cause. Our water bill has not
increased significantly. I am currently investigating the next course of action to hire 
a company to further investigate the issue. 

Facilities
• The planting of the new Himalayan birch trees in front of the library has been 

postponed until the spring. Based upon the recommendation of John Stevens and our 
building maintenance person Michael Peterson-Love they suggested removing the 
stump from the Norway Maple and planting the new trees in that area. Columbia Tree 
Service was unable to remove the stump until Friday, November 15. 

Personnel
• Library staff have watched an online training program paid for by the Oregon State 

Library called Librarians Guide to Homelessness: An Empathy Driven Approach to 
Solving Problems, Eliminating Conflict and Serving Everyone by Ryan Dowd. 

Library staff feel better equipped to deal with issues and how to develop better 
relationships with all our patrons.

Amazon.com: “Homelessness is a perennial topic of concern at libraries. In fact, staff 
at public libraries interact with almost as many homeless individuals as staff at shelters
do. Empathy and understanding, along with specific actionable advice that's drawn 
from experience, makes all the difference in working with this group. In the training 
Dowd, executive director of a homeless shelter, spotlights best practices drawn from 
his own shelter's policies and training materials. Filled with to-the-point guidance that 
help front line public library staff and managers understand and serve this population 
better, this resource.

• Includes facts about homelessness every librarian should know;
• Debunks widespread myths about these individuals, explaining how they see 

themselves, what issues they struggle with, and how libraries can shift towards 
supporting them;

• Shares de-escalation techniques like showing respect, ways to avoid making 
things personal, and using proper body language;

• Walks library staff through dealing with common issues like a sleeping patron, 
questionable hygiene, offensive behavior, and asking a patron to leave; and 
advises on how to provide backup to a colleague and when to call the police.”

Programs
• Writing Group Weekly on Thursdays from 3-4:30. Patrons can join writers in the Gorge 

for this informal writing group. The group is located in the Columbia Room in the library.
• Makerspace Open play, Saturdays, 10a.m. to 2p.m. Patrons can come check out all 

the tools in the Makerspace. This in an opportunity to explore the tools without 
instruction.

• Teen events book clubs, trivia, college prep, and movies! 
• Native American History Month

Page 5

Board meeting agenda [2019-11-19], supplementary info, updated 7



◦ Legends of the Coyote puppet show,Wednesday, November 20, 5:30 p.m. Two 
hilarious misadventures about Coyote, the infamous trickster, Performed by 
Pegasus Puppet Theater of Portland.

• Movie Showing: Allah made me Funny, Saturday, November 23, 4 p.m.
This film follows three acclaimed Muslim comedians on stage and off as they lift the 
veil to reveal the humorous truth of what it's really like to be Muslim in America. 

VI. Previous business   
i. Odell Feasibility and Scoping Exercise proposal

Attachments:
• VI.i. Requests for proposals for Feasibility and Scoping Exercise Odell

As discussed at the last board meeting, I hired Heidi Venture, a local consultant to research 
and write a grant to the Ford Family Foundation, Ford Institute for Community Building, called 
Listen to Learn. If we are awarded the grant, we could receive up to $5,000 to pay for the 
consultant for the Feasibility and Scoping Exercise in the community of Odell. 

I was instructed by our consultant to submit the application. I was informed by the Ford Family
Foundation we are required to hire a consultant prior to applying for the grant. I recommend 
we move forward with hiring a consultant. Once the board selects the consultant, I will 
resubmit the grant for approval. Based upon this time line, the Scoping Exercise will occur 
January-June 2019.

ii. Annual planning session
Attachments:

• VI.ii. Proposal facilitation of marketing goal-setting discussion

This year, we are continuing to work on Strategic Goal #4, Increase library awareness 
throughout our county. At the October 15, 2019 board meeting we discussed hiring consultant
Penny Hummel to develop clear goals in regards to marketing and outreach for library staff 
and the library board to implement. Library Consultant Penny Hummel has submitted a 
proposal. She will conduct an audit of current marketing procedures, facilitate a planning 
session for the library board and then provide a written report (optional) with goals for library 
staff. The cost will be $1,148 for the planning session and written report. 

The Friends of the Library Pat Hazlehurst Endowment committee has voted to fund the entire 
cost of the session. I recommend we accept this proposal and discuss potential dates. I would
like Assistant Director Arwen Ungar to also attend the session. Due to her upcoming leave, I 
request we meet either Tuesday, December 17 or Tuesday, January 21, at 6pm, prior to our 
regularly scheduled board meeting. Penny Hummel prefers December 17, if that will work for 
the board. 

iii. Boiler bids
Attachments:

• VI.iii. Hunter Davisson Bid for boiler replacement 

Page 6

Board meeting agenda [2019-11-19], supplementary info, updated 8



As we discussed at the October 15, 2019 board meeting, the Energy Trust of Oregon 
contacted me about an incentive and potential bonus for replacing the boiler by December 31,
2019. The typical incentive for installing a 94% thermal efficiency boiler would be $5,751. With
the bonus, the incentive amount goes up to $8,307. We discussed at the board meeting 
requesting bids for replacing the boiler this year.

We have been experiencing issues with our boiler intermittently shutting off and needing 
manual restart. I received a quote from A & E Heating and Cooling for over $5,000 to replace 
two parts which may be causing the intermittent shut off issues. The boiler is almost 17 years 
old and they typically do not seize up but instead individual parts start needing to be replaced.

We did not receive any bids the first time I contacted companies. In the second round, we 
received a bid from Hunter Davisson (same company replacing RTU) in the amount of 
$59,971. I had received a ballpark figure of $40,000 from Mark Jones, the mechanical 
engineer during the Energy Trust of Oregon study. I was informed by Hunter Davisson the 
new high efficiency boilers are larger and require drainage. Additional adjustments would 
need to be made to the existing area to accommodate the new unit. The unit Hunter Davisson
could get would only have 93.9% thermal efficient, not 94%. I’m not sure is this would qualify 
for the incentive.

Dave McCotter from Hunter Davisson told me our boiler has a lot of life left in it and he would 
not recommended replacing it. He stated cast iron sectional boilers life expectancy is 35 years
per the American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers 
(ASHRAE). 

McCotter stated the payback for a high efficiency boiler will take years and years. The boiler 
serves the heating coil in the air handler and is primarily used for morning warm up and run at
180 degrees.  A high efficiency boiler running at 180 degrees is like the 80% efficient boiler 
we currently have now. It only gets its efficiency from running at low fire / low temperature 
which works well on a condenser loop but not necessarily in a hot water heating loop. 

McCotter stated his boiler representative did make a suggestion that we could install two 
smaller boilers and that would get us the efficiency we are looking for and it would have a 
very good turn down (20:1) but that may be cost prohibitive at this time due to venting and all 
the re-piping that would be required but maybe a good idea in the next 10 years or so when 
we start thinking about replacing the existing boiler. 

To follow up on Brian Hackett’s question from our last board meeting regarding whether 
running the older boiler will be taxing on the new RTU, Mark Jones informed me our rooftop 
unit is cooling only and all the heating in the building is done by the boiler. That being said, 
the old boiler should not be taxing for the new RTU. Upgrading the boiler to a high-efficiency 
95%+ condensing boiler would be a good thing to do in order to save heating energy, but it 
should not affect the operation of the new rooftop unit. 

Based upon this information and the cost of a new unit, I recommend with do not replace the 
boiler at this time. We have not experienced any further issues with the unit going down. In 
the meantime, I do recommend contacting Hunter and Davisson for a second opinion if we do

Page 7

Board meeting agenda [2019-11-19], supplementary info, updated 9



continue to experience issues with the boiler. We should also start planning on saving funds 
for a replacement in the future. 

I have requested a quote from Hunter Davisson for preventative maintenance plans for the 
RTU and boiler. This will ensure we are regularly maintaining both units. If the price is 
acceptable, I recommend we start an agreement with them after they install our RTU. I would 
like to access their work during the installation and make sure we want to continue an 
ongoing relationship with them for our entire system. If we do not chose them, I will find 
another company to work with to ensure our units are properly maintained. 

VII. New business
i. Dental Insurance Renewal

Attachment: 
• VII.i. Employee Health Care Benefits Policy

The District has used Lincoln Financial Insurance for the past year. This year, Lincoln Financial rates 
have increased. Another provider, Pacific Source came in at a lower rate with the same level of 
benefits. By switching to Pacific Source, we will pay $72 less per year on the premium than we are 
currently paying Lincoln Financial.  

Due to a deadline for submitting our applications, we have moved forward with Pacific Source dental 
insurance. If the board decides they would like to purse other options, please let me know. We need to
formally approve the PacificSource Bend Chamber dental plan. 

Next year, the open enrollment period will occur at the same time for medical/vision and dental. We 
will be able to approve both plans at our October board meeting. 

ii. Special Districts Association Annual Conference Discussion
Sheppard

The SDAO annual conference will be held February 7-9 in Seaside, Oregon. Registration 
opens December 2nd but we can reserve hotel rooms now. 

In the past, we have sent one board member and one staff member. I highly recommend 
attending the conference. They have a variety of sessions geared toward board members. I’d 
like to discuss a board member possibly attending the conference this year. They do not have
the conference session brochure available yet, but you can access the session brochure from
last year to get an idea of the type of sessions they offer. 
https://www.sdao.com/S4/Events/annual-conference.aspx

iii. Staff safety discussion                                                                    
Sheppard

Library staff have recently been discussing safety concerns for all our branches. Library staff 
members have requested to have a panic button which will automatically call police or 
emergency dispatchers with the press of a button. This is particularly useful at the smaller 
branches where library staff are often alone in the entire building at night. 

Page 8

Board meeting agenda [2019-11-19], supplementary info, updated 10

https://www.sdao.com/S4/Events/annual-conference.aspx


In addition, our Hood River building can also be a safety risk due to the size. Staff in the 
evenings at the service desks are often alone on the floor. We have numerous entrances and 
exits which are not visible from the service desks. 

We are all connected by SLACK, which is a chat software installed on every computer in the 
building. Staff would like a device which allows them to immediately call 911, if they are 
unable to access a computer or phone. 

I have identified a company Solo Protect which sells a device connected to a cellular network.
The device has a button to push or can be pulled off a lanyard which activates a call center 
which records the interaction taking place and notifies the proper response team, e.g. police, 
EMS, fire department, etc. 

I would like to purchase 4 units for $200 total and then we will have a monthly fee $120 for all 
four devices. The units will be located at Parkdale, Cascade Locks, the Hood River front desk 
and kids desk. I think this is a reasonable cost for staff to feel safe and provide an extra level 
of security. We can sign a contract for one year. I’d like to discuss this further at the meeting.

VIII. Agenda items for next meeting                                                                
Sheppard

• Pay Equity Analysis report
• Personnel Policy
• Ethics training video

IX. Adjournment                                                                                                      
Sheppard

_______________

Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, 
Executive Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are scheduled
for the current meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

The Board of Directors meets on the 3rd Tuesday each month from 7.00 to 9.00p in the 
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Memorial Meeting Room at 502 State Street, Hood River, Oregon. Sign 
language interpretation for the hearing impaired is available if at least 48 hours notice is 
given.

Page 9

Board meeting agenda [2019-11-19], supplementary info, updated 11



Board of Directors
Regular Meeting Minutes

Tuesday, October 15, 2019, 7:00pm
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Community Meeting Room

502 State St, Hood River
Jean Sheppard, President

Notes prepared by Library Director Rachael Fox 

Present: Rachael Fox (staff), Yeli Boots (staff), Karen Bureker, Megan Janik, Sara Marsden, Brian 
Hackett, and Thomas Hackett (Public). 

I. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION) Bureker
Vice President Karen Bureker called the meeting to order at 7:00pm. Fox stated she received a letter 
from library patron Thomas Hackett and had copies available of the letter and statistics she gathered. 
Marsden moved to approve the agenda. Janik seconded. The motion carried unanimously. 

II. Conflicts or potential conflicts of interest Bureker
None stated. 

III. Consent Agenda (ACTION)                                                                          Bureker

i. Minutes from September 17, 2019 meeting
ii. Invoice for Sage Library Consortium
Marsden moved to approve the consent agenda. Janik seconded. The motion carried unanimously. 

IV. Open forum for the general public Bureker
A member from the public Thomas Hackett, PO Box 1921, Hood River, Oregon was present at the 
meeting. Hackett mailed a letter to the Library Foundation board and Library Director Rachael Fox 
requesting the Hood River Library be opened on Mondays. The letter to the Foundation was intended 
for the Library District Board. Thomas Hackett stated in his letter the hours could be redistributed 
across six days per week. Thomas Hackett provided examples of nine different libraries in Oregon 
which had more open hours at their main branches than the Hood River Library. 

Fox stated this request involves first looking at how the District allocates their funds. The founding 
Library District Board decided to place emphasis on serving our entire county in a variety of ways. This
meant their would be a certain amount of open hours at the main branch, open hours at the Parkdale 
and Cascade Locks branches, and time for staff to conduct outreach in the community, in particular 
the community of Odell which has over 2,300 residents and no physical branch. 

Many users can not get to main branch and our smaller branches, so we meet our patrons where they 
are. We provide a variety of outreach services: 

• Outreach senior facilities
• Programs and services in Odell
• Reading buddy program – Wy’East apartments
• Odell Library Express bus, which buses children weekly summer and monthly school year to 

the Hood River Library and back to Odell.
• Attend events, e.g. Children’s fair, STEM hub events, etc. 
• Outreach schools, provide story time and programs

In addition, staff need off desk time to plan and provide many programs in the library and outside. 
They need time to select materials for the collection and weeding. 

III.i. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 12



The service desks are busy and it’s challenging to do side work while on desk. We have had an 
increase in useage at our smaller branches. The Cascade Locks Branch had 2,652 visitors, which was
an increase of 51% over FY 2017-18 and the Parkdale Branch had 2,152 visitors, which was an 
increase of 41% patrons over FY 2017-18.

There are also current budget constraint like we have a low permanent tax rate for $.39 per thousand, 
we are expanding services in Odell, minimum wage and health care cost increases, and the upcoming
replacement of boiler, roof, carpet, and items wearing out.

Fox addressed the comparison between other libraries. Fox stated seven of the branches Thomas 
Hackett addressed in his letter only have one branch. Fox provided statistics to the board which 
showed the Hood River Library actually provides almost double the service hours of the other libraries 
when you add the hours for all three branches. We serve almost the same population size of many of 
the other libraries but we are spread out more geographically. Please see chart below.

The Hood River Library District has 3 branches and 5 service desks to cover each day, in addition to 
requiring multiple Person-In-Charge of the building each days. The minimum we can have scheduled 
is seven staff members for one day.

It’s important to look at the amount of population served and our low tax rate. The two outliers in the 
libraries addressed by Thomas Hackett are Baker County and Tillamook County. Baker County offers 
more annual service hours but they have a smaller population and higher tax rate. They also only offer
a smaller amount of programs, which mean staff can spend more time on desk. Their attendance at 
programs is 3,262 while ours is 23,901. Baker spends $771,472 on their staff expenditures compared 
to our $$551,644. They spend $219,828 more per year on staff

Tillamook County has a similar size population but they spend three times the amount on their budget 
($3,078,779) and receive over five times the revenue ($5,500,33). They are open 3 times the amount 
of service hours than Hood River. The main reference Thomas Hackett made to the Manzanita model 
is not comparable. They have a small one room branch which serves 651 residents, so they need less
staff in the building to keep the library open on more days at the same number of hours as the Hood 
River main branch. 

▪

Fox stated it is not feasible for our staff and current funding to redistribute our hours at this time to 
include Mondays. We would have an Increase janitorial services by adding additional days. There 
would also be an increase in electricity, heat, and water. We would also need to align our hours with 
smaller branches we would need staff at small branches connect with the main branch for questions 
and safety. 

Oregon State Library Statistics 2017-18

Library name County

BAKER COUNTY LIBRARY DISTRICT 16,750 Baker 1 5 1 14.70 59 2,959 7,014 $1,149,085 $.5334 $0 $771,472 $91,539 $297,053 $1,160,064 146,167 215 3,262

HERMISTON PUBLIC LIBRARY 25,752 Umatilla 1 0 0 7.92 46 2,328 2,328 $742,894 $0 $617,831 $38,682 $83,103 $739,616 90,314 454 9,226

HOOD RIVER COUNTY LIBRARY DISTRICT 25,145 Hood River 1 2 0 11.25 43 2,166 4,246 $1,131,390 $.39 $29,868 $551,644 $75,861 $313,280 $940,785 145,900 391 23,901

LA GRANDE PUBLIC LIBRARY 20,262 Union 1 0 0 5.00 44 2,288 2,288 $628,386 $0 $391,952 $56,102 $100,340 $548,394 147,889 326 6,773

NEWPORT PUBLIC LIBRARY 17,928 Lincoln 1 0 0 11.50 62 3,134 3,134 $1,161,072 $31,272 $825,503 $119,150 $216,419 $1,161,072 261,557 552 15,548

ONTARIO LIBRARY DISTRICT 26,645 Malheur 1 0 1 8.00 47 2,444 2,817 $657,421 $.55 $0 $314,404 $99,396 $126,427 $540,227 89,484 421 9,180

PENDLETON PUBLIC LIBRARY 24,184 Umatilla 1 0 0 7.50 54 2,808 2,808 $703,719 $0 $419,464 $40,212 $188,024 $647,700 101,357 293 4,408

THE DALLES-WASCO COUNTY LIBRARY 23,455 Wasco 1 0 0 11.00 58 2,912 2,912 $1,247,629 $.68 $0 $775,161 $143,207 $426,782 $1,345,150 230,107 364 4,494

TILLAMOOK COUNTY LIBRARY 26,175 Tillamook 1 5 1 21.00 65 3,380 11,544 $5,500,333 $0 $1,965,133 $202,823 $910,823 $3,078,779 336,866 1,145 18,225

UNION CARNEGIE PUBLIC LIBRARY 3,300 Union 1 0 0 2.00 50 2,340 2,340 $107,141 $0 $66,660 $5,000 $25,197 $96,857 14,016 301 6,853

Populatio
n served

Central 
library

Branch
es

Bookm
obiles

Total 
paid 
staff

Total main 
library 
hours in a 
typical 
week

Annual 
public 
service 
hours for 
main library

Total 
annual 
public 
service 
hours

Total 
library 
revenue

Tax rate 
Library 
District

Total 
capital 
revenue

Total staff 
expenditure

Total 
expenditu
res on 
collection

All other 
operating 
expenditures

Total library 
expenditures

Total 
circulati
on

Total 
number 
of 
progra
ms

Total 
program 
attendan
ce

III.i. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 13



The District currently has four full-time positions, five positions 25-32 hours per week (staff work 4 
days per week), seven positions 19.5 hours or less, and five on-call substitutes.

It would be challenging at our current level of staffing to require our many part-time staff to spread their
hours over five days and it would not feasible for some due to other jobs and commitments. We would 
need to hire additional staff. 

Thomas Hackett stated the District could save money by redistributing hours like eliminating slow 
hours in the evenings on Saturdays.

Fox stated, there are three service desks in Hood River and we do not always need two staff during 
our busy hours. If we shifted hours by eliminate less busy desk shifts with one person and add hours 
during the day on Monday, we would need to staff two people on desk, because Monday would then 
be our busiest day of the week due to the closure on Sunday.

Overall, it would cost the District more more money to add another day to our current schedule or we 
would have to cut services in various departments. 

Fox stated it would be beneficial to determine what it would cost to open additional hours on Monday 
in Hood River. This way if have a donor willing to support additional hours, we would know what it 
costs. Fox stated she would work on determining a ball park figure. 

Brian Hackett stated it does come down to funding. Bureker stated there would be a time we may 
need to go out for a levy because $.39 per thousand would not be sufficient to fund the library 
indefinitely. Bureker asked if the library has people counters. Fox stated she and Assistant Director 
Arwen Ungar are looking into counters for Hood River. Fox stated the first step is to determine which 
hours we are busy. Then we can explore options in the future like changing hours, if the budget allows 
it. This would also involve seeking community input in regards to open hours. 

V. Presentation Bilingual Outreach Specialist Yeli Boots Boots
Boots provided a slide show presentation to the board highlighting all the programs and services in the 
community of Odell. 

VI. Reports 

i. Friends update      Fox
There was nothing to add to the written report. 

ii. Foundation update Fox
There was nothing to add to the written report. 

iii. September 2019 financial statements Fox
Bureker asked if there was funds available for upcoming RTU replacement. Fox stated the carryover 
has increased the past two years and we also still have the $83,000 donation from former library 
employee.  

iv. Director's report Fox
There was nothing to add to the written report. Bureker commented the daily New York Times (NYT) 
was hard to find in town. Thomas Hackett commented they sell the NYT at Rosauers. Fox stated it 
was cost prohibitive to add 7 day subscription. It would cost around $1,300. The Sunday NYT cost 
around $380 per year.

III.i. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 14



VII. Old Business
VIII. New Business

i. Technology Use Policy (ACTION)                                                             Fox
Marsden made a motion to approve the updated Technology Use Policy. Janik seconded. The motion 
carried unanimously. 

ii. Appointing agents of record (ACTION)                                                     Bureker
Hackett moved to adopt Resolution 2019-20.03, appointing the insurance agent of record as Columbia
River Insurance and the employee benefits agent of record as Century Insurance Group, LLC.  
Marsden seconded. The motion carried unanimously. 

iii. HVAC replacement bids (ACTION) Fox
Board members discussed the two lowest bids between A&E and Hunter and Davisson, Inc. Hackett 
asked if there was anything included on the bid with TCMS. Fox stated she did not think there was. 
Hackett asked if there was a charge for travel time for using the company for repairs. Burker stated 
there is a benefit with a local firm since we will not have to pay travel time and we would support a 
local business.  Fox stated there would be a travel charge with Hunter and Davisson but any repairs 
should be covered under warranty in the first year. We would only need to use the company we select 
for installation for one year due to our warranty and then we could switch to a local company for 
repairs.

Hackett asked if there could possibly be a discount if we chose one company for both the boiler and 
HVAC replacement. Fox stated she would prefer to move forward now with HVAC replacement 
because our one compressor could fail and then we would have no way to circulate and regulate the 
heat. The estimate to bring in air conditioners during the summer was $10,000 for one month, so it 
would be best if we do not have to bring in heaters to heat the building. Since we had already went 
through the bid process for RTU and are not sure if we will replace the boiler now, it would be best to 
proceed with the replacement. Thomas Hackett asked is we would need to go through the bid process
again for the boiler.  Fox stated we would have to go through the process again since the project will 
exceed $10,000. 

Bureker stated it would be best to save $6,000 now. The rest of the board agreed. Marsden moved to 
approve the agenda. Janik seconded. The motion carried unanimously.

iv. Boiler discussion Fox
Hackett asked if there would be added value to replace both units and if it will be taxing to the new 
RTU to work with an older boiler.  Fox stated she would look into the question. Fox stated she would 
work on getting an estimate and thinks it may be around $40,000. Bureker stated we may need to 
call a special meeting. Fox stated she would keep everyone updated.

v. Medical Insurance renewal (ACTION) Fox
Fox stated she recommended the PacificSource $1,000 plan. Bureker asked if staff paying out of 
pocket are okay with increase. Fox stated she and the other two staff members would be okay with 
the increase. Marsden made a motion to approve the selection of PacificSource $1,000. Janik 
seconded. The motion carried unanimously.

vi. Snow removal contract (ACTION) Bureker
Marsden stated it is a good idea to provide snow removal daily. Fox stated she also added ice melt 
removal to save staff time. Janik made a motion to approve the contract with Ayles for snow removal
services. Hackett seconded. The motion carried unanimously.

III.i. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 15



vii.Annual Planning Session discussion              Fox
Hackett stated he would prefer a robust report. Fox stated she would like clear goals to work towards. 
Marsden stated the price of the report might change their decision. Fox stated she would ask 
Consultant Penny Hummel for quotes and report back to the board. 

IX.  Agenda items for the next meeting     Bureker
Bureker asked for a staff presentation. Fox stated she would see if a staff member is available. 

X. Adjournment               Bureker
The meeting was adjourned 8:26pm.                      

               
_______________

Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, Executive 
Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are scheduled for the current 
meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

The Board of Directors meets on the 3rd Tuesday each month from 7:00 to 9:00pm in the Jeanne 
Marie Gaulke Memorial Meeting Room at 502 State Street, Hood River, Oregon. Sign language 
interpretation for the hearing impaired is available if at least 48 hours notice is given.

III.i. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 16



V.iii. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 17



V.iii. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 18



V.iii. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 19



V.iii. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 20



V.iii. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 21



V.iii. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 22



V.iii. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 23



V.iii. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 24



V.iii. Minutes of October 15, 2019 regular meeting 25



Request for proposals for
Feasibility and Scoping Exercise

Enhance Library Services
for Odell Phase II

Proposals due: Monday, January 13, 2020 at 5:00pm
Email: rachael@hoodriverlibrary.org
Phone: 541-387-7062

Hood River County Library District (HRCLD) seeks a qualified, experienced facilitator to help lead a 
feasibility and scoping exercise in the community of Odell and develop a final product.

The purpose of the exercise is to identify library needs and services desired by the Odell community, 
to engage library patrons and non-library users, staff and Board of Directors in the process, and to 
raise awareness of existing and potential library services and resources.

The ideal candidate will facilitate meetings, distilling themes and priorities from each, and will be 
instrumental in shaping the final document. The plan will address the implications of the proposed 
priorities and goals for library services in the community of Odell.  

About the District
HRCLD is dedicated to promoting the enjoyment of reading and culture, responding to the 
community's need for information, and enriching quality of life for its patrons. The library serves 
approximately 25,000 people, who checked out over 147,000 items in 2018-19. It includes three 
branches: Cascade Locks, Hood River, and Parkdale. Staff also do extensive outreach to other areas 
of the county, especially in Odell, a rural community of approximately 2,478 people, 67% of who are 
Latinx. There is a weekly Pop-Up Library in Odell. The three libraries are crucial sources of free public 
Internet access and electronic information, with over 6,000 Internet sessions logged in 2018-19 by 
residents and visitors alike on the district's computers as well as thousands of wireless internet 
sessions. HRCLD enjoys a very supportive Friends group, Foundation, and volunteers.  

The district is a member of the Sage Library System and the Libraries of Eastern Oregon. Hood River 
County is in the heart of Columbia River Gorge and the Mount Hood recreational area, providing 
opportunity for many outdoor recreational activities including windsurfing, kiteboarding, hiking, cycling, 
skiing, and much more. The district has stable funding from a countywide special district that was 
created in 2011 following the yearlong closure of the previously county-run library system.

Background

The District has a five-year strategic plan to guide priorities for 2016-2021. The Library District’s 
Strategic Goal 1 is to create a stable and permanent presence in Odell. The sub-goal is to develop a 
service plan and explore collaboration with prospective partners.

We have initiated a phased approach to accomplish this goal. Phase I was to raise awareness and 
funds to support the pop-up library and a feasibility exercise, which will be considered Phase II. 
Results of Phase II will be used to inform Phase III, the development of a proposal for library services, 

VI.i. Requests for proposals for Feasibility and Scoping Exercise Odell 26



including identifying options for mechanisms to deliver services (e.g. permanent physical presence or 
other approach).

Requirements
HRCLD seeks a professional facilitator to:

• Oversee and guide all stages of the feasibility and scoping exercise, including meetings with 
stakeholders, community leaders, library staff, Board of Directors, and community members.

• Collaborate with HRCLD staff members, including Library Director, Assistant Director, and 
Bilingual Outreach Specialist.

• Identify and seek to engage a broad spectrum of sectors of the community, such as families 

with young children, young adults, older adults, business community, Spanish speakers and 

other public service providers to seek input regarding preferences and provisions for library 

services and how best to provide the services in the community of Odell.

• Effectively communicate with community members, which will require various technological 

and in-person approaches and use of bilingual materials.

• Ensure methods used to gather information and communicate with members of the community 
reflect cultural awareness of all community members.

• A draft outreach plan shall be approved by District staff and Board prior to start of public 

outreach.

• Mutually agreed upon milestones shall be established to monitor progress.

• Provide a written report of findings, including description of methods, participants, summary of 
input received and recommendation of library services for the community of Odell.

Proposed timeline and milestones
Initial stages of the feasibility and scoping process are expected to start in January 2020 with an 
expected completion in June 2020.

Task Due Date To Be Determined

Prepare draft outreach plan

Discuss draft outreach plan with District Staff and 
Board

Complete outreach

Complete written report

Discuss report with District Staff and Board

VI.i. Requests for proposals for Feasibility and Scoping Exercise Odell 27



Selection criteria
Proposals will be evaluated by HRCLD staff, with final approval by the Board of Directors. Staff may 
conduct interviews via phone or streaming video. Proposals will be evaluated on the following criteria:

• Relevant experience and success in facilitation and qualitative/quantitative integration skills
• Cost to complete the process
• Prior experience working with both public and staff committees
• Demonstrable facilitation
• Creativity and ingenuity
• Bilingual (Spanish/English) desired

Proposal requirements
To be considered, proposals must include:

• Cover letter including a brief description of the firm or individual.
• Brief summary of the facilitator’s qualifications and experience.
• Basic project plan that includes a description of the methodology, tasks, and timeline.
• Schedule of costs to complete the project.
• References and contact information for previous clients for whom comparable work was 

completed.
• Copy of your standard contract, if applicable.

Proposals addressing the above criteria shall be directed via the contact information below.

Rachael Fox
Library Director
Hood River County Library District
502 State St.
Hood River, OR 97031
rachael@hoodriverlibrary.org
541-387-7062

Proposals will be received by HRCLD until 5:00pm on Monday, January 13, 2020. Proposals received 
after this time will not be accepted.  Please submit proposal via email as PDF files with the subject line
“Proposal for Feasibility and Scoping Exercise.”  

VI.i. Requests for proposals for Feasibility and Scoping Exercise Odell 28



 1 

 

PENNY HUMMEL 
Consulting 

 
penny@pennyhummel.com         316 NE 24th Avenue, Portland OR  97232        503.890.0494 

 
October 29, 2019 

 

Rachael Fox  

Director 

Hood River County Library District  

502 State Street  

Hood River, OR 97031 

 

Dear Rachael,  

 

Thank you for contacting me recently regarding facilitation of a marketing goal-setting 

discussion with your library board.  My hourly fee is $175.  For a project of this scope, I would 

request the following: 

 

• 2 hours prep time to do an audit of your current marketing efforts, which would include 

review of documentation as well as potentially a phone discussion ($175 x 2):  $350 

• 1 hour discussion facilitation time:  $175   

• Mileage from Portland to Hood River (63 x 2 x .58):  $73 

• Lodging, dinner and breakfast (assuming meeting is in the evening):  $200 

• OPTIONAL:  2 hours to prepare writeup of discussion and overall recommendations 
($175 x 2):  $350   

• TOTAL:  $1,148 ($798 without writeup)   

 

Attached is a more detailed description of my qualifications.  If I can provide any additional 

information, please let me know.  Thank you!   

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

Penny Hummel  

 

 

 

 

 
 

VI.ii. Proposal facilitation of marketing goal-setting discussion 29



 2 

Penny Hummel:  Summary of my qualifications and experience.     
 

The 2013-14 president of the Oregon Library Association, I have twelve years 

of management experience in public libraries both large and small, as well as 

prior volunteer experience as a library advocate, Friends president and 

Library Foundation trustee. My current areas of practice include 

organizational development, marketing, fundraising, and library facility 

planning. I am based in Portland, Oregon and my company’s website, which 

includes a list of my past projects and clients, is www.pennyhummel.com  

 

I established Penny Hummel Consulting in late 2013, and thus far, have worked with 40 clients 

on 49 projects in seven states, including facilitating successful library strategic planning 

processes for eight Oregon libraries and library systems (Coos Bay, Florence, Hood River, St. 

Helens, Lincoln City, Springfield, Lake County and Reedsport).  

 

I am experienced in meeting facilitation with various library stakeholder groups (staff, friends 

groups, foundations and library boards), public presentations and data analysis. I have also 

researched and written a public library needs assessment for the Oregon Community 

Foundation, as well as a comprehensive library needs assessment for the state of New Mexico.  

 

In 2013, I was selected as a fellow in the Public Library Association’s Leadership Academy, 

participating in a multi-day intensive training focused on enhancing the position of libraries 

within their communities. From 2009-2013, I was director of the Canby Public Library, which 

serves a population of 25,000. With the goal of revitalizing the Canby library’s staffing, 

collections, programming and services, I increased the library’s circulation by 20% within two 

years, comprehensively improved services to Spanish speakers, and raised over $562,000 to 

support library services and capital improvements. From 2001 – 2009, I was a member of 

Multnomah County Library’s senior management team, serving as the system’s Marketing and 

Communications Manager and overseeing the library’s website and system wide programming.   

 

My educational background includes a BA in Russian Literature from Reed College and an 

Executive Master’s in Library and Information Science from San Jose State University.   

VI.ii. Proposal facilitation of marketing goal-setting discussion 30



VI.iii. Hunter Davisson Bid for boiler replacement 31



VI.iii. Hunter Davisson Bid for boiler replacement 32



VI.iii. Hunter Davisson Bid for boiler replacement 33



VI.iii. Hunter Davisson Bid for boiler replacement 34



VI.iii. Hunter Davisson Bid for boiler replacement 35



VI.iii. Hunter Davisson Bid for boiler replacement 36



Employee Health Care Benefits Policy

In an effort to ensure a healthy, productive, and talented workforce, the 
Hood River County Library District provides health care benefits to eligible 
employees. This policy establishes those benefits, how they are selected, 
and what types of health care benefits are provided by the District.

Eligibility
Any regular employee who is scheduled in any capacity at any site to work for the District at 
least twenty hours per week is deemed to be eligible for health care benefits as defined in this
policy. Health care benefits shall be available on the first day of the month that occurs after 
sixty days from the hire date.

Health Care Benefits
The District shall contribute to the cost of health care benefits for qualifying employees. 
Currently, the District's contribution for qualifying employees shall be up to a cap of $1,000 
per month. In future years, the amount of the District's monthly contribution may be set by 
resolution of the Board of Directors. The amount of the monthly cap paid for each employee is
based on a forty-hour work week, and it will be reduced proportionally for employees who 
work fewer than forty hours per week. The District shall make available the option of 
purchasing benefits for spouses,children, same-sex domestic partners, or opposite-sex 
domestic partners (with a signed affidavit supplied by the District or benefits provider) of 
qualifying employees and the District will contribute to the cost of such spousal or family 
insurance coverage up to the amount of the current monthly cap. Employees shall not be 
compensated for any amount under the monthly cap not being spent, except as provided 
below in “In-Lieu Health Care Benefits”.

The health care benefits provider shall be selected by the employees, with guidance and 
limitations established by the Board of Directors, and may include medical, vision, dental, and
mental health coverage. If given the option by the benefits provider(s), employees may elect 
whether or not to participate in the different types of insurance, thereby electing how they 
would like to spend their District-provided monthly health care benefits cap.

In-Lieu Health Care Benefits
Employees may waive medical insurance coverage by providing proof of coverage that meets
minimum value standards under another employer-sponsored medical insurance plan. The 
employees who waive District coverage shall become eligible for the District's HRA VEBA 
medical expense plan. For employees participating in the HRA VEBA plan, the District shall 
contribute a monthly amount equal to one-half of what the District would normally pay for a 
single individual to enroll in the medical portion of the District's insurance plan, not to exceed 
the equivalent of half of the monthly health care benefits cap. This contribution shall be 
prorated based on a forty-hour work week. Each eligible employee must submit a completed 
and signed enrollment form to participate in the HRA VEBA plan.

Other Considerations
Some provisions of the health care benefits provided by the District are affected by the 
Personnel Policies, particularly those pertaining to benefits and leave. Employees are 
encouraged to read carefully those policies as well. In addition, the District's health care 
benefits providers may place
their own limits and conditions on employee eligibility and benefits, so theseVII.i. Employee Health Care Benefits Policy 37



Employee Health Care Benefits Policy, p.2

restrictions, if any, must be considered as well.

Adopted by the Board of Directors, January 17, 2012
Last revised, November 18, 2014

VII.i. Employee Health Care Benefits Policy 38


	Request for proposals for
	Feasibility and Scoping Exercise
	Enhance Library Services
	for Odell Phase II
	About the District
	Requirements
	Proposed timeline and milestones
	Selection criteria
	Proposal requirements


	Employee Health Care Benefits Policy
	Eligibility
	Health Care Benefits
	In-Lieu Health Care Benefits
	Other Considerations


